THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 27 2019

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
SC Workers' Compensation Commission
Appellate Panel

Appellate Case No.: 2018-001237

Kenneth L. Barr, Claimant, Appellant,

v.

Darlington County School District, Employer,
and SC School Boards Insurance Trust,
Carrier, Respondents.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Preston F. McDaniel, Esquire
MCDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 771-7211

and

Gerald Malloy, Esquire
MALLOY LAW FIRM
Post Office Box 1200
Hartsville, South Carolina 29551
(843) 339-3000

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WAS MR. BARR DENIED DUE PROCESS BY THE ADMISSION OF DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE OVER OBJECTION DENYING HIM THE RIGHT OF CROSS-EXAMINATION AND BY SHIFTING THE BURDEN OF EXPENSE TO THE INJURED WORKER TO EXERCISE THAT CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT?
- II. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE HEARING COMMISSIONER WHEREIN THE HEARING COMMISSIONER FAILED TO MAKE DETAILED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ON AN ESSENTIAL ISSUE PRESENTED TO HIM FOR DECISION AS IS REQUIRED BY BOTH STATUTE AND CASE LAW?
- III. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY ADMITTING THE EVALUATION REPORT AND THE DEPOSITION OF DR. PAUL B. PRITCHARD, III, M.D.?
- IV. DID THE COMMISSION ERR BY AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE ORIGINAL HEARING COMMISSIONER ASSIGNED TO HEAR THE CASE WHO ALLOWED THE RESPONDENTS TO SEND MR. BARR FOR AN EVALUATION TO DR. PAUL B. PRITCHARD IN CHARLESTON, SOUTH CAROLINA IN VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE §42-15-80 AND HIS ORDER?
- V. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY AFFIRMING THE HEARING COMMISSIONER'S DECISION WHICH WAS BASED ON THE REPORT AND "MEDICAL" OPINION OF DR. EAGERTON, PH.D.?
- VI. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY DENYING MR. BARR BENEFITS BASED ON THE RELIABLE, PROBATIVE AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD?
- VII. DID THE FULL COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY ISSUING AN ORDER CONTRARY TO ITS DECISION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal arises out of a workers' compensation claim. Mr. Barr met with his supervisor on March 28th and May 7th, 2015 concerning Mr. Barr's treating neurologist's opinions that his chronic headaches were being caused by exposure on the job to commercial paints. On May 22nd his neurologist issued a written out of work statement that he needed to be out of work as a commercial painter for the Employer on the basis that his fatigue, migraines and memory loss were due to VOCs in the paint at work. (R. pp. 479-481). The Employer having not authorized benefits, Mr. Barr retained counsel and a Form 50 claim for benefits was filed in Darlington County June 17th, 2015 (R. pp. 91-92). Defense Counsel was retained, and Subpoenas were issued on July 7th for medical records. Mr. Barr agreed to a voluntary deposition on July 27th, 2015, held September 9th, 2015. A Request for Hearing (Darlington) was filed September 29th alleging injury by accident, repetitive trauma and/or occupational disease arising out of the employment; alleging and listing as body parts affected, encephalopathy, brain (headaches, memory, fatigue, confusion), neurological/central nervous system and psychological functioning. (R. pp. 94-95). A Form 51 denying Mr. Barr had sustained injury by accident, repetitive trauma or occupational disease and raising all affirmative defenses was filed October 28th. (R. p. 96). Based on a Hearing Notice served November 3rd, 2015, the claim was set for hearing on January 7th, 2016 at 11:45 a.m. Three days later November 6th, a Motion to Compel Mr. Barr

to attend a, "medical evaluation" was filed requesting an Order mandating Mr. Barr attend an evaluation by a psychologist, Dr. Mark Wagener (Ph.D.) in Charleston, S.C. A Reply to the Motion to Compel was filed seven days later on November 13th with supporting case law that the Charleston evaluation should be denied as not being at reasonable times and places nor being with a licensed medical doctor (R. pp. 101-107).

Without hearing, an Administrative Order was issued November 23rd, 2015 granting the Motion to Compel. (R. p. 5). By letter dated November 24th, 2015, a request was filed for the Order to be withdrawn and/or stayed and that the parties be granted at least a telephone conference concerning the Motion before issuance. (R. pp. 1476-1478). No hearing or conference was held and Defendants were placed on notice December 4th of the intent to file Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition in the Circuit Court. Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition with Motion for TRO without notice was filed December 9th (R. pp. 112-114) and served on the Commission December 10th and a Temporary Restraining Order Without Notice was issued on December 16th, 2015 (R. pp. 6-9). Defendants had filed a Motion for Continuance December 5th on the basis Mr. Barr, "intended" to file the Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition which was renewed after the filing of the Writs on December 17th. On December 21st, Counsel for the Commission, A. Camden Lewis, Esquire, notified Mr. Barr's Counsel that the Commission was willing to send Mr. Barr to a, "medical doctor," for the medical examination requested by Defendants if Mr. Barr

would agree to release the Commission from the Temporary Restraining Order and the Commission would then amend its directive requiring Mr. Barr to attend an evaluation by a physician. (R. p. 1480). The following day December 22nd after conference with defense counsel and Commissioner Beck, Mr. Barr notified the Circuit Court he was withdrawing the Writs of Prohibition and Mandamus returning the matter to the jurisdiction of the Commission and immediately filed a Motion for Reconsideration as to the Administrative Order. That Motion was granted by Commissioner Beck by Administrative Order filed December 23, 2015 wherein the Commission's Order of November 23rd was vacated; Respondents were allowed to request an evaluation by a properly qualified examiner, "at reasonable time and place"; and postponed the January 7th hearing until February 24, 2016. Eight (8) weeks after the Order and six (6) weeks after the original hearing. (R. pp. 201; 10-11). (emp. added).

Subsequently on January 27th, Defendants filed a Motion to Compel Mr. Barr to attend an evaluation by a medical doctor but again in Charleston, SC. (R. pp. 208-211). Mr. Barr filed a Reply that day advising, as he had to all Motions; in the Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition; and as set forth in the Commission's Order that the examination had to be at, "reasonable times and places" meaning the Darlington/Florence area. (R. pp. 215-216). After notification by email that the Commissioner was inclined to grant the Motion, to prevent further delay, Counsel for Mr. Barr notified Mr. Barr to be present at the evaluation. (R. pp. 1481-

1482).

Before the reset hearing date of February 24, 2016 at 11:00 a.m. and as required by Regulation, that Defendants as the responsive party must file their Pre-Hearing Brief and APA Submissions at least ten business days prior to the date of the Hearing, on Friday February 12, 2016 Defendants filed their Pre-Hearing Brief and APA Submissions including a new report from Mr. Mark T. Wagner, Ph.D. dated that same day, February 12th. On Saturday, February 13th, an Amended Pre-Hearing Brief was mailed adding yet another report from Dr. L. Randolph Waid, Ph.D. and on Monday, February 15th, a Federal holiday, Defendants added yet another expert, Dr. Eagerton, Ph.D., all of those APA submissions were received by Mr. Barr by mail on February 16th. Numerous objections were made as to the submission of all of these additional written APA submissions reports in writing on February 18th with a Memorandum of Law in support of their exclusion being filed on February 19th. (R. pp. 1483-1483; 244-261; 1485-1487).

A pre-hearing conference was held February 24th after which and over objection, Mr. Barr was notified that the Commissioner would allow the reports of the experts into the Record but would allow him an opportunity to take the depositions at his expense. Defendants had previously asked in their APA Submissions for the Record to be left open for the depositions of Dr. Paul Pritchard, their IME and Dr. Nicholas Lind, but instead of leaving the Record open, the Hearing Commissioner postponed the hearing over Mr. Barr's objection.

The case was then not reset for hearing until April 20th and due to scheduling conflicts had to be rescheduled. Due to the Commissioner not being in the District and a new Motion filed April 13th to, "Compel," Mr. Barr to sign a Medical Release Form, the Form 50 was withdrawn and refiled on April 29th (R. pp. 266-267). The matter was then finally reset for hearing before a new Hearing Commissioner on August 31, 2016.

Before hearing, Mr. Barr filed his Amended Pre-Hearing Brief, APA Submissions and Notice of Witnesses and Defendants filed their Pre-Hearing Brief and APA Submissions. (R. pp. 268; 529). At the August 31st hearing, all objections made in writing or in the prehearing conferences, or Mr. Barr's Pre-Hearing Brief (R. pp. 268-275) were renewed; including the submission of the written reports of Dr. Eagerton, Ph.D., Dr. Waid, Ph.D., and Dr. Wagner, Ph.D. In addition to the hearing testimony and the objections made on the Record, the depositions of Dr. Paul Pritchard, M.D.; Dr. Nicholas Lind, Ph.D.; Dr. Roland Skinner, M.D.; and Dr. Marshall White, M.D. were admitted. The Record was left open for the deposition of Dr. R. Joseph Healy, M.D., which was not conducted until September 29th. (R. pp. 1252; 1071; 1201; 974; 899; 1400).

The Hearing Commissioner issued his Notes for Decision on November 17th, 2016. (R. pp. 1490-1494). Before any Final Order was filed on January 19th, 2017, a detailed Request for Reconsideration Prior to Formal Order was filed by Gerald Malloy in part because the Hearing Commissioner had not addressed an

essential issue for decision, Mr. Barr's request for benefits based on his chronic headaches being caused by or caused to become symptomatic by the VOCs and a finding Mr. Barr was not at maximum medical improvement and requesting temporary total disability benefits and medical care. (R. pp. 1495-1499).

No decision was rendered on the Request for Reconsideration and a First Proposed Order was not filed until August 17th, 2017. Objection to the Proposed Order was filed on September 18th and a Revised Proposed Order was submitted via email September 18th at 4:44 pm and a Second Revised Proposed Order was submitted on September 18th via email at 6:26 pm which contained additional Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. p. 1507). Formal objection to the Second Revised Proposed Order and the additional Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law was filed September 18th (R. pp. 1508-1509). The Second Revised Proposed Order submitted by defense counsel was filed as the Order of the Commissioner on September 20th, 2017. A Form 30 Request for Review with 29 exceptions was filed on October 2, 2017 (R. pp. 789-799). Briefs were submitted by both parties and a hearing was held before the Full Commission Panel on February 20th, 2018 after which the panel voted to affirm the decision as written with no amendments noted on the Vote Sheets. (R. pp. 800-849; 850-898; 1448-1475; 1513-1515). A form Request for Proposed Full Commission Order was issued and objection to the proposed Full Commission Order was made. (R. pp. 1516-1518). The Full Commission Decision as submitted by defense counsel was filed on June 5th, 2018 (R. pp.

61-90) and a Notice of Intent to Appeal with exceptions was filed with this Court June 29th, 2018 which Notice of Appeal with attachments is on file with the Court. This Appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

It is agreed Mr. Barr started work with the School District on May 27, 2009 as a commercial painter using commercial paints (R. p. 489). [Commercial paints (oil/solvent) require MSDS sheets because of the levels of volatile organic compounds - VOCs.] Prior to going to work for the School District in 2009, Mr. Barr operated his own house painting business using, residential (water based) house paints.

For the period 2005 to 2010 only, his family doctor, Dr. Chapman's records were put into evidence. They contain no history or treatment for chronic/repetitive headaches through May, 2010. (R. pp. 540-547).

ONE YEAR AND ½ MONTH AFTER MAY 27TH 2009:

June 15, 2010, Mr. Barr saw Dr. Chapman for:

"H/A (headaches) (x) (off/on) for 2-3 weeks (2-3 wks.); fatigue; taking Tylenol every day." (R. p. 452);

September 1, 2010 - "persistent" H/A (headaches) c (cause) occ. (occupation) ... work excuse from 8/23/10-9/6/10 RTW 9/7/10 ..." (R. p. 451).

September 13, 2010 -

"He stated the headache started about 4 weeks ago ... CT scan ...negative ... he was given a prescription ... unfortunately, the headache has persisted. He returned to work on 9/7/10 and worked through Thursday and was released from work ... because of dizziness, fatigue and balance issues ... Goody Powders ... now offer no relief. It persists throughout the day." (R. p. 450).(*)

September 16, 2010, Mr. Barr returned, per Dr. Chapman:

"Follow-up of his headache and fatigue evaluation. Wife states that she took him to the ER a few nights ago and waited several hours and left without being seen. She stated he had a severe dizzy spell with facial pain and pressure and "looked like he was out of it." Denied any drug use or even OTC medications. He recently had an MRI which showed microvascular ischemic changes ..." (R. p. 449). (*)

He was given medications and an out of work statement and then

Dr. Chapman recorded,

"as young as this patient is with his abnormal brain MRI, I recommend Aspirin 81-mg daily for now in addition to further neurological evaluation ..." (R. pp. 447-448).

[*]MSDS-Paints- "SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS OF OVEREXPOSURE":

headache, dizziness, nausea and loss of coordination..." (R. pp. 327-337.)

On September 23, 2010, Mr. Barr was seen by Dr. Roland Skinner, a neurologist who wrote a letter to Dr. Chapman that same day detailing a history of dizziness and headaches with severe headaches that had been continual for the last five weeks. He also noted problems with concentration. Dr. Skinner recorded a very limited social history recording that he had been a chronic smoker but had just quit smoking and that he worked for the school district as a, "handyman and painter." Dr. Skinner, "because of his relative lack of other risk factors except for smoking, and because of the intractable nature of his headaches", ordered additional testing. (R. pp. 453-455).

October 22, 2010, Dr. Chapman noted Mr. Barr was being followed by a neurologist, Dr. Skinner; opined the headaches were likely, "tension" headaches; but, he also recorded Mr. Barr stated,

"he was exposed to some lead paint in the Summer and wonders if this is a contributing factor".
(R. p. 446).

Dr. Skinner treated Mr. Barr from 2010 through February 21, 2012. On November 15, 2011, he noted Mr. Barr was having, "headaches pretty much every day"; that he had good days and bad days in reference to how severe his headaches were; and Mr. Barr noted to him that, "certain smells will trigger the headaches." His diagnosis was chronic headaches and at that time it was his opinion (15 months later), "a good bit of his problems may be analgesic rebound." (R. pp. 472-473). Dr. Skinner last saw him on February 21, 2012 and continued to diagnose him with tension headaches and as to causation he stated, "and we really had not come up with any other reasons for his headaches at that point." (R. pp. 1002, l. 23 - 1003, l. 15; quote: l. 14-15).

From October of 2010 until the time he lost his health insurance in 2015, Mr. Barr continued to see Dr. Chapman for chronic intractable headaches and from 2010 to 2012, in addition to Dr. Skinner, he saw Dr. Chapman on a constant basis, 11/16/10, 12/13/10, 3/30/11, 4/19/11, 5/2/11, 7/15/11, 8/22/11, 8/24/11, 10/5/11, 9/12/12, 10/10/12, 11/19/12]. (R. pp. 423-445).

October 10, 2012, Dr. Chapman recorded that:

"I have discussed options as it related to neurological evaluation. He has an appointment to see Dr. White, a neurologist here, rather than traveling to Florence and hopefully this will be a little easier for him to accomplish as it relates to taking off of work." (R. pp. 423-445).

Then his treatment with Dr. Chapman jumped to mid-2013.

October 17, 2012, Mr. Barr for the first time saw Dr. Marshall White at his Hartsville office and after taking a detailed history including his work history as a commercial painter for the School District, Dr. White issued a work restriction note:

"No exposure to volatile organic compounds (including paint fumes). x 6 weeks" (the emphasis/underlining is on original work restriction statement). (R. p. 354).

After six (6) weeks, Mr. Barr returned to work and to chronic headaches. He continued to see Dr. White, before he closed his Hartsville office, then sporadically and mainly saw Dr. Chapman for treatment from 2012 to 2015 with a continuing diagnosis of "chronic headache". (R. pp. 424-480).

In a memo drafted on May 12, 2015, Mr. Larry Stagner, Mr. Barr's supervisor with the School District, noted that he had met with Mr. Barr both on March 28th and again on May 7th, 2015, because Mr. Barr was having trouble performing his work due to his headaches which on March 28th, his doctors had, "speculated" were related to his painting with the School District. Mr. Stagner recorded:

"While no doctor's excuses have been provided to date to substantiate these issues and other than a doctor's excuse provided Oct. 17, 2012 by Dr. Marshall White

stating, "no exposure to volatile organic compounds (including paint fumes) for six weeks", we have nothing definitive on which to substantiate this assumption." (R. p. 481).

He noted that Mr. Barr was going to meet again with his doctors on May 22nd and noted that since the doctors had told him to stay out of the VOCs, Mr. Barr inquired about alternative employment and he and Mr. Stagner set up an appointment with vocational rehabilitation and discussed the idea of applying for Social Security Disability. Mr. Stagner then advised that,

"our meeting closed with the fact that you need to find a way to be able to perform your job or to find a career that you are able to work without making you sick. ... on 5/22 ... I expect the release to return to work as a painter without restriction or to remove you from work permanently. I need for you to be able to perform your job at 100% or I need a resignation." (R. p. 481).

In a May 26th note, Mr. Stagner noted Mr. Barr and his wife had presented a doctor's note taking him out of work until further notice and another note stating, "fatigue, migraines, and memory loss due to VOCs in paint from work". (R. p. 285). On May 29th, Mr. Stagner instructed a fellow employee to go to Sherwin Williams to get the MSDS sheets. (R. pp. 479-480).

On June 4th and 5th, after his initial statement on May 21, 2015, Dr. White again recorded Mr. Barr's headaches and memory loss were due to exposure to VOCs and that he had slow mental processing speed, headaches, memory loss due to his exposure to the VOCs in the paint at work. (R. pp. 288-290; 294).

June 15th, a claim was filed and June 30th Mr. Barr was notified of representation by defense counsel.

Dr. White renewed out of work statements on July 18th and again on September 10th, 2015 taking Mr. Barr out of work until further notice. (R. pp. 286-287). Also, on September 10, 2015, Dr. White reaffirmed his opinion stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Mr. Barr's fatigue, headaches and memory loss were caused by volatile organic compounds in the paint at work. (R. p. 284).

HISTORY AFTER HEARING REQUEST

On September 29th having heard nothing and the Defendants having not accepted the claim, a hearing request was filed.

Between Dr. White's May 21st and September confirmational opinions, and November 4th, aside from taking Mr. Barr's deposition in September, Defendants did nothing in reference to medical evaluation or medical opinion by any physician local or otherwise.

Dr. White confirmed at his November 23rd, 2015 deposition that he had issued a referral on November 3, 2015 to a local clinical psychologist, Dr. Avie Rainwater, Ph.D. in Florence, South Carolina to perform neuropsychological testing; provided Nov. 3 to Defendants. (R. pp. 935-936).

On November 4, Mr. Barr received a telephone call that an appointment had been set up for an evaluation at MUSC to which Mr. Barr initially objected on the basis that it was not at reasonable times and places and after being informed, it was for an evaluation by a psychologist, Dr. Mark Wagner, Ph.D., on November 4th, Mr. Barr further objected it was for an evaluation

not allowed for under the Act and there was no reason that the testing could not be performed as prescribed by Dr. White locally by Dr. Rainwater. (R. pp. 101-111).

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