THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION'S APPELLATE PANEL  
Aisha Taylor, Commissioner

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001237  
W.C.C. 1507304

---

Kenneth L. Barr, Employee,.....Appellant,

v.

Darlington County School District, Employer, and  
S.C. School Boards Insurance Trust, Carrier,.....Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS**

---

Kirsten Leslie Barr, Bar #15525  
Trask & Howell, L.L.C.  
P.O. Box 2167  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465  
(843) 881-4228  
Attorneys for Respondents

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 29 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

##

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

Of course, workers' compensation awards must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation. Kennedy v. Williamsburg County, 242 S.C. 477, 131 S.E.2d 512 (1963). Instead, it "is settled by the decisions of the Supreme Court of this State that a Claimant who asserts the right to compensation carries the burden of establishing the necessary facts to entitle him to such compensation and there is no presumption in favor of compensability." Rudd v. Fairforest

Finishing Co., 189 S.C. 188, 200, S.E.2d 727 (1939). In fact, the “difficulty in proving a fact in a compensation case does not relieve the party on whom the burden rests of proving it, and does not shift the burden to the other party.” Herndon v. Morgan Mills, 246 S.C. 201, 143 S.E.2d 376 (1965)

### Arguments

**J. Barr abandoned his claims for encephalopathy, brain damage, memory loss, fatigue, confusion, and alleged injuries to the “neurological/central nervous system;” therefore, issues regarding these claims are not before the Court of Appeals.**

Neither Barr’s brief to the Commission’s Appellate Panel, nor his brief to the Court of Appeals, makes any argument with respect to the alleged injuries for which he initially brought the May 21, 2015 claim: encephalopathy, brain damage, memory loss, fatigue, confusion, and alleged injuries to the “neurological/central nervous system.” Indeed, the “Argument’ portion of Barr’s Brief to the Court of Appeals does not make any mention of brain damage. Therefore, Barr has abandoned these claims on appeal. Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006) (“An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.” (internal quotation omitted)). Of course, an unappealed issue, right or wrong, is the law of the case. ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470 (1997) (unappealed ruling is law of the case); Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159, 161, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (1970) (an unchallenged ruling, “right or wrong, is the law of this case and requires affirmance.”). As such, the Court of Appeals is without jurisdiction or authority to disturb the Commission’s findings of fact and conclusions of law with respect to these alleged injuries on appeal and the Commission’s Decision and Order, by which Barr’s claims of encephalopathy, brain damage, memory loss, fatigue, confusion, and alleged injuries to the “neurological/central nervous

system” were specifically denied, must be affirmed on appeal. The sole injury alleged at this juncture is headaches, as it is the only one argued in his Briefs to the Appellate Panel and the Court of Appeals. (Barr’s Initial Brief to Ct. App. p.10, p.24, p.31, p.41 “VI”).

**II. The Workers’ Compensation Commission’s finding and conclusions that Barr’s claim does not meet the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-1-160, 42-11-10, or 42-1-172 is the law of the case.**

**A. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160**

Barr’s Forms 50 alleges that he was injured as the result of an “accident” on May 21, 2015. (R. p.94, p.266). However, both the Hearing Commissioner and the Commission’s Appellate Panel found that “the only significance of the May 21, 2015 date is that Dr. White evaluated [Barr] and issued a work excuse on this date.” (R. p.51; p.79). The Hearing Commissioner and the Commission’s Appellate Panel both further concluded that Barr’s claim did not meet the statutory requirements of proving an injury by “accident” under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 because (1) Barr failed to prove that there was any event or condition on May 21, 2015 that caused his alleged injuries and (2)

“[m]ore importantly, [Barr] alleges that his condition was gradual in onset and due to repeated alleged exposures over time; therefore, his alleged injuries cannot be considered injuries by ‘accident’ pursuant to the plain terms of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(F).”<sup>1</sup> (R. p.45; p.86).

---

<sup>1</sup> According to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(F), the “word ‘accident’ as used in this title must not be construed to mean a series of events in employment, of a similar or like nature, occurring regularly, continuously, or at frequent intervals in the course of such employment, over extended periods of time. Any injury or disease attributable to such causes must be compensable only if culminating in a compensable repetitive trauma injury pursuant to Section 42-1-172 or an occupational disease pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 11 of this title.”

Barr did not raise any exception to this finding of fact or to this conclusion of law in his Brief to the Commission's Appellate Panel, nor did he make any argument regarding this finding or conclusion in his Brief to the Court of Appeals. In fact, neither Brief even mentions the operative statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160. Therefore, the Commission's unanimous conclusion that Barr's claim, specifically including "his complaints of headaches," does not meet the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 is the law of the case and cannot be disturbed on appeal. Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006); ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470 (1997); Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159,161, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (1970). Regardless of any procedural or evidentiary argument Barr now makes, the fact remains that his headaches are not compensable under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 as a matter of law.

**B. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-11-10**

Barr's Forms 50 raises an alternative claim that his alleged injuries were caused by an "occupational disease" under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-11-10; however, he failed to specify any "disease" from which he claims to suffer. (R. p.94, p.266). As a result of this failure, and further based upon the records and opinions of Dr. Healy, Dr. Lind, Dr. Waid, Dr. Pritchard, and Dr. Wagner, the Hearing Commissioner found that "the greater weight of the evidence...indicates that [Barr] does not suffer from any disease." (R. p.46). Barr did not appeal this finding to the Appellate Panel, nor did he mention the Appellate Panel's own final finding in this regard in his Brief to the Court of Appeals. (R. p.87).

The occupational disease statute, in addition to requiring proof of an actual disease, specifically requires that such disease "result directly and naturally from exposure...to hazards peculiar to the particular employment." Here, the Hearing Commissioner specifically found and concluded that "the conditions for which [Barr] seeks benefits do not 'result directly and

naturally from exposure... to the hazards peculiar to the employment” and are not compensable under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-11-10. (R. p.46). Like the concomitant finding, Barr did not appeal this legal conclusion to the Appellate Panel, nor did he mention the Appellate Panel’s own final conclusion in this regard in his Brief to the Court of Appeals. In fact, his Brief to the Court of Appeals makes no mention of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-11-10 whatsoever.

Because neither Barr’s brief to the Appellate Panel, nor his brief to the Court of Appeals, makes any argument with respect to any occupational disease statute, or the Commission’s findings of fact or rulings of law denying his claim pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-11-10, the Commission’s findings and conclusions regarding Barr’s failure of proof under that statute is the law of the case. Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006); ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470 (1997); Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159,161, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (1970). The Commission specifically determined that “his alleged headaches...do not qualify as an ‘occupational disease.’” Therefore, regardless of any procedural or evidentiary argument Barr now raises on appeal, his headaches are not compensable under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-11-10 as a matter of law, as it is well-settled that “[a]n issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal” even “if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.” Bryson v. Bryson, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008).

**C. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172**

There are only 3 ways for an alleged injury to be compensable under the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act: (1) proof of an injury by accident under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160, (2) proof of an occupational disease under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-11-10, or (3) proof of a repetitive trauma injury under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172. Barr failed to prove that any of his alleged injuries, including his claims of headaches, were caused by an “accident” under S.C.

Code Ann. § 42-1-160 or “occupational disease” under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-11-10 and his failure of proof under these statutes is the law of the case. Therefore, the only way Barr could conceivably be entitled to benefits under the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act is to prove the requirements of the repetitive trauma statute, which include not only proof of “repetitive traumatic events,” but also proof of a “direct causal relationship between the conditions under which the work is performed and the injury.”

Here, the Hearing Commissioner found and concluded that Barr failed to meet these requirements of the “repetitive trauma” statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172 because he had (1) failed to present “credible evidence of a ‘direct causal relationship’ between [his] work condition and his alleged injuries” and (2) his “alleged workplace exposures were neither repetitive, nor traumatic.” (R. p.58). On appeal to the Appellate Panel, Barr made no argument that this finding or conclusion were in error and, similarly, Barr’s Brief to the Court of Appeals does not even mention S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172. As a result, the Commission’s unanimous determination that Barr’s headaches do not qualify as a compensable repetitive trauma injury under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172 are the law of the case.

Even considering Barr’s tangential arguments regarding evidentiary or procedural issues, he makes no argument regarding the applicability of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172 or S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160, or S.C. Code Ann. § 42-11-10 and he goes no further than a conclusory statement about his entitlement to benefits for headaches in the final paragraph of his 6<sup>th</sup> argument. Even then, Barr fails to mention, much less argue, by what statutory authority he could be legally entitled to such benefits. This is legally insufficient to preserve any argument under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172, or § 42-1-160, or § 42-11-10, because “short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.” Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct.

App. 2001). When, as is the case *sub judice*, an appellant provides no legal authority regarding a particular argument, the argument is abandoned. State v. Lindsey, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011).

Therefore, the Commission's findings and conclusions denying the Barr's occupational disease, repetitive trauma, medical, and compensation claims are the law of the case and cannot be disturbed on appeal. Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159,161, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (1970) (an unchallenged ruling, "right or wrong, is the law of this case and requires affirmance."). While Barr maintains a vague argument that his headaches are related to his employment, it matters not if he has not and cannot satisfy his statutory burdens under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-1-160, 42-11-10, or 42-1-172 as a matter of law.

**III. The Workers' Compensation Commission's unanimous finding and conclusion that Barr's headaches were not caused by his employment is supported by substantial evidence and the applicable law and should be affirmed by the Court of Appeals.**

Barr previously alleged that he sustained injuries to his brain, central nervous system, and psyche as a result of repetitive exposure to volatile organic compounds (VOCs) arising out of and the course of his employment with the School District on May 21, 2015 and the majority of the opinions elicited from the experts involved in this case centered on these claims of brain damage and a nervous system injury. However, Barr has now abandoned his brain damage and nervous system claims and presently alleges only headaches, which were previously alleged to be a *symptom* of the alleged brain damage and not a discrete injury in and of itself.<sup>2</sup> (R. p.94; p.266; R. p.1261, line 11—p.1262, line 2; R. pp.1448—1475). Even still, it remains unclear —

---

<sup>2</sup>Barr never filed a claim or put the Defendants on notice that he was alleging any headache syndrome separate and distinct from his claim of physical brain damage/encephalopathy; therefore, the goal posts shifted significantly on appeal, to the prejudice of the Respondents.

even on appeal – whether he brings his headache claim under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 or § 42-1-172 or § 42-11-10, as neither his brief to the Appellate Panel, nor his brief to the Court of Appeals references any of these statutes and the Commission’s unanimous determination that the requirements of these statutes were not met by Barr are the law of the case. Regardless, substantial evidence supports the Workers’ Compensation Commission’s unanimous conclusion that Barr’s headaches did not arise out of his employment and should be affirmed, even if the Court determines that the Commission’s conclusions under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160, 42-1-172, and 42-11-10 are not the law of the case and thus binding on appeal.

For example, Barr’s personal neurologist, Dr. Roland Skinner, first evaluated Barr for complaints of headaches in September 2010. Dr. Skinner testified to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Barr’s headaches are tension-type headaches complicated by analgesic rebound and anxiety, which he did not believe were related in any way to alleged workplace exposures of any kind. (R. pp.1003—1004). In addition, Dr. Skinner testified that at no time during his treatment of Barr did he ever complain of his work environment impacting his headaches. (R. p. 1009). The Respondents respectfully submit that Dr. Skinner’s opinions constitute substantial evidence in support of the Commission’s unanimous findings and conclusions that Barr’s headaches were not caused by an accident, repetitive trauma, or occupational disease arising out of or in the course of his employment.

Similarly, neurologist Dr. Paul Pritchard of MUSC evaluated Barr on February 2, 2016 and testified, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Barr’s complaints of headaches have no causal relationship to his employment at the School District. (R. pp.1175--1176). According to Dr. Pritchard, Barr has simple chronic daily headaches, which could be migraines, muscle tension headaches, or rebound headaches caused by Barr’s admitted abuse of caffeine and over-the-counter analgesics (Goody’s Powders), all of which could be complicated by Barr’s cigarette

smoking. (R. pp. 697, 1085—1089). In addition, Dr. Pritchard determined that Barr's neurological exam was entirely "normal" and explained that the "#1" reason for doctor visits in the United States is a headache. (R. pp.697, 1096, 1175, 1153). Dr. Pritchard's opinions also constitute substantial evidence in support of the Commission's unanimous findings and conclusions that Barr's headaches were not caused by an accident, repetitive trauma, or occupational disease arising out of or in the course of his employment. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981).

Barr relies, primarily, on the specious and controverted opinion of Dr. Marty White. White opined that Barr's "migraines" were due to exposures to Volatile Organic Compounds ("VOCs") at the School District. However, the Workers' Compensation Commission unanimously determined that White's opinion is "speculative, based on disproved hypotheticals, uncorroborated, and otherwise without objective basis" and; therefore, entitled to "little weight." (R. p.52, p.81). Barr did not appeal this finding and it is the law of the case. ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470 (1997) (unappealed ruling is law of the case); Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159,161, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (1970) (an unchallenged ruling, "right or wrong, is the law of this case and requires affirmance.").

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